STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Dorchester County

Honorable Maite Murphy, Circuit Court Judge

 ORIGINAL

RECEIVED

FEB 12 2018

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

MICHAEL GENTILE,

PETITIONER

APPELLATE CASE NO 2017-001277

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

KATHRINE H. HUDGINS
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUE PRESENTED

Did the Court of Appeals err in failing to find that the trial judge erred in refusing to quash as unconstitutionally overbroad and vague the indictment for lewd act, true billed by the grand jury on June 4, 2015, eleven days before trial, and alleging that the offense took place between January 1, 2010, and September 1, 2012, when, over two years earlier on March 7, 2013, the grand jury indicted Petitioner only for criminal sexual conduct with a minor first degree occurring on or about January 1, 2009?

STATEMENT

On March 7, 2013, the Dorchester County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner Gentile for criminal sexual conduct with a minor first degree occurring on or about January 1, 2009, indictment #2012-GS-18-1480. (First CSC w/ Minor indictment, R. p. 203). Over two years later on June 4, 2015, the Dorchester County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner for lewd act upon a child under sixteen occurring between January 1, 2010, and September 1, 2012, indictment #2015-GS-18-0598. (Lewd Act indictment, R. p. 199). It appears that on June 4, 2015, the same day as the Grand Jury indicted Petitioner for the lewd act charge, the State re-presented the earlier indictment for criminal sexual conduct with a minor first degree to the Grand Jury with an expanded time frame of between January 1, 2010, and September 1, 2012. (Second CSC w/ Minor indictment, R. p. 201). On June 15, 2015, Petitioner proceeded to jury trial on both the criminal sexual conduct with a minor indictment with the expanded time frame and the lewd act indictment before the Honorable Maite Murphy. Pierce Wehman and John Loy represented Petitioner at trial. Kyle Ward and Sheila Mims prosecuted the case. The jury returned a verdict of not guilty for criminal sexual conduct with a minor first degree but guilty of lewd act. Judge Murphy sentenced Petitioner to fifteen (15) years suspended upon the service of fourteen (14) years with four (4) years of probation to follow. A timely notice of intent to appeal was served on June 22, 2015, and the direct appeal perfected. On March 8, 2017, the South Carolina Court of Appeals, in an unpublished opinion, affirmed the conviction and sentence. State v. Gentile, Op. No. 2017- UP-108 (S.C.Ct.App. filed March 8, 2017) A timely petition for rehearing was filed and denied on May 1, 2017. On May 31, 2017, the petition for writ of certiorari was filed with this Court. The return was filed on June 30, 2017. On January 12, 2018, this Court granted the petition for writ of certiorari. This brief of petitioner follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Petitioner began dating the Minor's mother in May of 2010, and in May or June of that same year moved in with the Minor's mother, the Minor and her younger brother. (R. p. 63, line 6- p. 64, lines 1-9). The four lived in a two bedroom, one bath apartment. At the time of trial in June of 2015, the Minor was 12 years old.

At trial the mother testified that on August 31, 2012, she discovered some things on the Minor's phone that resulted in the mother calling the police. (R. p. 65, line 15 – p. 66, lines 1-25). At the time the police were notified Petitioner was driving a truck for a living, on the road and not at home. (R. p. 65, lines 19-20). The mother did not testify about any statements made by the minor limited to time and place by Rule 801(d)(1)(D), SCRE. The police officers who went to the apartment that night did not testify at trial. The minor was later interviewed at the Dorchester Children's Center. (R. p. 67, lines 14-25). The video of the interview was admitted in evidence as State's Exhibit #3 and played for the jury without objection. (R. p. 92, line 1-11).

On March 7, 2013, the Dorchester County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner for criminal sexual conduct with a minor first degree, indictment #2012-GS-18-1480. Over two years later on June 4, 2015, eleven days before trial, the Dorchester County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner for lewd act upon a child under sixteen, indictment #2015-GS-18-0598. Additionally, on June 4, 2015, the State expanded the time frame in the original criminal sexual conduct with a minor first degree indictment from on or about January 1, 2009, to between January 1, 2010, and September 1, 2012. On June 15, 2015, Petitioner proceeded to jury trial, on both indictments. The jury found Petitioner not guilty of criminal sexual conduct with a minor first degree. The appeal involves the conviction for lewd act.

ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals erred in failing to find that the trial judge erred in refusing to quash as unconstitutionally overbroad and vague the indictment for lewd act, true billed by the grand jury on June 4, 2015, eleven days before trial, and alleging that the offense took place between January 1, 2010, and September 1, 2012, when, over two years earlier on March 7, 2013, the grand jury indicted Petitioner only for criminal sexual conduct with a minor first degree occurring on or about January 1, 2009.

Petitioner was initially indicted for criminal sexual conduct with a minor first degree on or about January 1, 2009, indictment #2012-GS-18-1480. (First CSC w/ Minor indictment, R. p. 203). On June 4, 2015, eleven days before trial, Petitioner was indicted for lewd act upon a child under sixteen between January 1, 2010, and September 1, 2012, indictment #2015-GS-18-0598. (Lewd Act Indictment, R. p. 199). Additionally on June 4, 2015, eleven days before trial, the State amended the original criminal sexual conduct with a minor first degree indictment to expand the time frame from on or about January 1, 2009, to between January 1, 2010, and September 1, 2012. (Second CSC w/ Minor indictment, R. p. 201).

Prior to trial Petitioner, relying on State v. Baker, 411 S.C. 583, 769 S.E.2d 860 (2015), moved to quash both the lewd act indictment and the criminal sexual conduct with a minor first degree with the expanded time frame as unconstitutionally overbroad and vague in violation of Petitioner's state and federal constitutional right to due process of law. (R. pp. 15-20). Petitioner argued, "What I'm saying is that no amount of time is enough to prepare two years and nine months to determine whether he had an alibi defense. Mr. Gentile is a truck driver. He's on the road for long periods of time. If, as in the first indictment, there was a one day or two day or a week or some sort of narrowed framed, it – it might be that he would have an alibi in this case. But due to the length of the timeframe in the indictment itself, he's essentially stripped of that defense, Your Honor." (R. p. 17, lines 11-20).

The trial judge denied the motion to quash ruling:

Based upon the case law, it – and certainly the Court does not find that it’s an overly broad time period. The indictments in this case do give the defendant sufficient certainty and particularity – it apprises him of the elements of the offense to be charged, and gives him the opportunity to – to review that time period. And, basically, he’s called to know what he’s called upon to answer and may plead accordingly. And it certainly, based upon the review of the actual indictments, it – the offenses are stated with sufficient particularity to enable the court to know which judgment to pronounce, so the Court is – your motion is denied.

(R. p. 19, lines 10-23). Petitioner additionally argued that the time frame was such that he could not protect himself from further prosecution from other allegations that could later be raised during the same time frame. (R. p. 20, lines 3-14). The judge again denied the motion to quash. (R. p. 20, lines 21-24). The challenge to the indictments as constitutionally overbroad and vague was preserved for appellate review.

The jury returned a verdict of not guilty for criminal sexual conduct with a minor first degree but guilty of lewd act. The trial judge erred in refusing to quash the new indictments as unconstitutionally overbroad and vague. The expanded non-specific time frame lacked specificity as to when the alleged acts occurred and the State failed to show circumstances warranting the expanded time frame. Additionally, the State failed to demonstrate that the time span in the indictments was narrowed as much as possible.

In State v. Baker, 411 S.C. 583, 592, 769 S.E.2d 860, 865 (2015), this Court wrote:

Accordingly, we hold the trial judge erred in refusing to quash the indictments as the non-specific, six-year period covered in the indictments was unconstitutionally overbroad because it lacked specificity as to when the alleged acts occurred. It is axiomatic that an indictment must include more than the elements of the charged offense. Therefore, we reverse Baker's convictions.

In finding the indictments unconstitutionally overbroad in Baker, this Court discussed the constitutional and statutory requirements of an indictment and wrote:

An indictment is a critical document in criminal defense preparation that is grounded in constitutional and statutory principles. *See* S.C. Const. art. I, § 11

“No person may be held to answer for any crime the jurisdiction over which is not within the magistrate's court, unless on a presentment or indictment of a grand jury of the county where the crime has been committed...”; S.C.Code Ann. § 17-19-10 (2014) (“No person shall be held to answer in any court for an alleged crime or offense, unless upon indictment by a grand jury....”). As we explained in State v. Gentry, 363 S.C. 93, 610 S.E.2d 494 (2005):

The indictment is the charge of the state against the defendant, the pleading by which he is informed of the fact, and the nature and scope of the accusation. When that indictment is presented, that accusation made, that pleading filed, the accused has two courses of procedure open to him. *He may question* the propriety of the accusation, *the manner in which it has been presented*, the source from which it proceeds, and have these matters promptly and properly determined; or, waiving them, he may put in issue the truth of the accusation, and demand the judgment of his peers on the merits of the charge. If he omits the former, and chooses the latter, he ought not, when defeated on the latter,—when found guilty of the crime charged,—to be permitted to go back to the former, and inquire as to the manner and means by which the charge was presented.

Id. at 102, 610 S.E.2d at 499–500 (citations omitted) (emphasis added).

411 S.C. at 588–89, 769 S.E.2d at 863.

In footnote #5 this Court wrote, “We emphasize that our decision does not preclude the State from re-indicting Baker for the four counts of committing a lewd act upon a minor that he was convicted by using appropriate time limitations for the charged offenses. Had the indictments alleged that the conduct occurred during the summer months of the years 1998 through 2004, i.e., June 1 until September 1, we believe the indictments would have been sufficient.” Id.

The indictment in the present case alleges, “That in Dorchester County, South Carolina, on or about January 1, 2010 to September 1, 2012, the defendant, Michael Edward Gentile, being over the age of 14 years old, did willfully and lewdly commit or attempt to commit a lewd or lascivious act upon the body or its parts of [Minor], a child under the age of sixteen (16) years with the intent of arousing, appealing to, or gratifying the lust or passions or sexual desires of himself or the child. This offense in violation of Section 16-15-140, of the South Carolina Code

of Laws, as amended.” (R. p. 199, Lewd Act indictment). The original indictment for criminal sexual conduct with a minor alleged that the offense took place on or about January 1, 2009. (First CSC w/ Minor indictment, R. p. 203).

At trial the Minor testified that, “He touched me in my places and did a lot of things” in the locked bedroom of the apartment where the Minor, her brother, her mother and Petitioner lived. (R. p. 73, lines 8-10). The Minor’s mother described the apartment as a two bedroom, one bath apartment. (R. p. 64, lines 4-14). The mother testified that she worked during the day and Petitioner worked at night so Petitioner was in charge of watching the minor and her brother while the mother was at work during the day. (R. p. 64, line 18 – p. 65, lines 1-11). The mother testified that Petitioner worked for a security company and then later drove a truck for a living. (R. p. 65, lines 6-20).

In Baker this Court relied on language from State v. Gentry, 363 S.C. 93, 610 S.E.2d 494 (2005) in addressing the sufficiency of an indictment writing:

If a defendant raises a timely challenge to the sufficiency of an indictment, the reviewing court is charged with: determining whether (1) *the offense is stated with sufficient certainty and particularity* to enable the court to know what judgment to pronounce, and *the defendant to know what he is called upon to answer and whether he may plead an acquittal* or conviction thereon; and (2) whether it apprises the defendant of the elements of the offense that is intended to be charged. Gentry, 363 S.C. at 102–03, 610 S.E.2d at 500 (emphasis added). “In determining whether an indictment meets the sufficiency standard, the trial court must look at the indictment with a practical eye in view of all the surrounding circumstances.” State v. Tumbleston, 376 S.C. 90, 97, 654 S.E.2d 849, 853 (Ct.App.2007). In doing so, “one is to look at the ‘surrounding circumstances’ that existed pre-trial, in order to determine whether a given defendant has been ‘prejudiced,’ i.e., taken by surprise and hence unable to combat the charges against him.” State v. Wade, 306 S.C. 79, 86, 409 S.E.2d 780, 784 (1991).

State v. Baker, 411 S.C. 583, 589, 769 S.E.2d 860, 863-64 (2015), reh'g denied (Apr. 9, 2015).

In Baker the Court found that prejudice resulted from the unconstitutionally overbroad indictments writing, "Examining the indictments in the instant case in view of all the surrounding circumstances, we find Baker was prejudiced as he was undoubtedly taken by surprise and significantly limited in his ability to combat the charges against him. Simply stated, there was no way for Baker to know "whether he [could] plead an acquittal." Gentry, 363 S.C. at 103, 610 S.E.2d at 500." 411 S.C. at 590, 769 S.E.2d at 864. As in Baker, Petitioner in the present case had no way of knowing whether he could plead an acquittal based on the expanded non-specific time frame alleged in the indictment for lewd act. While counsel for Petitioner was notified that the State intended to seek an expanded time frame, (R. p. 17, lines 5-10), Petitioner was undoubtedly taken by surprise when the expanded time frame was sought over two years after the original indictment providing a specific date.

While the time frame alleged in the indictment in Baker involved an expanded unspecified six year time period and the time frame alleged in the indictment in the present case involved an expanded unspecified almost three year time period (33 months), the new expanded time frame indictments in both cases was sought very close to the time of trial. In Baker the expanded indictment was sought two weeks prior to trial and in the present case the expanded indictment was sought eleven days prior to trial. The indictment in the present case is defective in the same way that the indictment was defective in Baker.

In affirming Petitioner's conviction the Court of Appeals, without referencing the Baker case, wrote:

Affirmed pursuant to Rule 220(b), SCACR, and the following authorities: State v. Tumbleston, 376 S.C. 90, 94, 654 S.E.2d 849, 851 (Ct. App. 2007) ("The trial court's factual conclusions as to the sufficiency of an indictment will not be disturbed on appeal unless so manifestly erroneous as to show an abuse of discretion."); id. ("An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law or a factual conclusion without evidentiary support."); id.

at 98-99, 654 S.E.2d at 853-54 (explaining the court uses a two-prong test to determine whether the period alleged in the indictment provides sufficient notice to a defendant: "(1) whether time is a material element of the offense; and (2) whether the time period covered by the indictment occurred prior to the return of the indictment by the grand jury."); *id.* at 101, 654 S.E.2d at 855 ("Time is not a material element of . . . committing a lewd act on a minor."); *id.* at 101-02, 654 S.E.2d at 855 ("[I]ndictments for a sex crime that allege offenses occurred during a specified time period are sufficient when the circumstances of the case warrant considering an extended time frame."); *id.* at 102, 654 S.E.2d at 855 ("The stealth and repetitive nature of the alleged conduct compels identification of the broader time period. The victim is a young child, whom one cannot reasonably expect to recall the exact dates of the sexual abuse."); *State v. Wade*, 306 S.C. 79, 82-83, 409 S.E.2d 780, 781-82 (1991) (refusing to adopt a per se rule that a two year time period in an indictment was unconstitutionally overbroad).

In Tumbleston, the defendant moved to quash the indictment as insufficient because it failed to allege the specific time of each offense intended to be charged. Tumbleston was indicted on four counts of criminal sexual conduct with a minor and one count of attempting a lewd act on a minor. Tumbleston was found guilty of two counts of criminal sexual conduct with a minor and lewd act. Finding the indictments sufficient, the Court of Appeals in Tumbleston wrote:

Time is not a material element of either first-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor or committing a lewd act on a minor. *See* S.C.Code Ann. §§ 16-3-655, 16-15-140 (2003 and Supp.2006). The State is not required to denote the precise day, or even year, of the accused conduct in an indictment charging criminal sexual conduct. Thompson, 305 S.C. at 501, 409 S.E.2d at 423. Indeed, indictments for a sex crime that allege offenses occurred during a specified time period are sufficient **when the circumstances of the case warrant considering an extended time frame.** Nicholson, 366 S.C. at 574, 623 S.E.2d at 103; . . .

376 S.C. at 101-02, 654 S.E.2d at 855 (emphasis added). The Court in Tumbleston found that the circumstances of the case warranted the broader time frame writing, "The stealth and repetitive nature of the alleged conduct compels identification of the broader time period. The victim is a young child, whom one cannot reasonably expect to recall the exact dates of the sexual abuse. B.J. verified the abuse began while she was in kindergarten, and she ensured the

end of the abuse when she disclosed the offenses to her mother.” Tumbleston, 376 S.C. at 102, 654 S.E.2d at 855 (Ct. App. 2007).

The challenge in the present was not for failing to allege the specific date of each offense charged as in Tumbleston. Instead, the challenge in the present case was to the indictments as being unconstitutionally overbroad and vague by alleging an unspecified expanded time frame without circumstances to justify such an unspecified expanded time frame. The present case is distinguished from Tumbleston because in the present case the State failed to present circumstances to warrant the non-specific expanded time frame. Additionally, the alleged time frame in the present case was even less specific than the time frame in Tumbleston. The minor in Tumbleston was able to state that the abuse began when she was in kindergarten and continued throughout the second grade. In the present case the State did not attempt to show a time frame based on the grade the minor was in when the alleged abuse started, as in Tumbleston. The State did not attempt to show a time frame based on a period of summer months, as noted in footnote #5 in Baker. In the present case the State failed to present circumstances warranting the unspecified expanded time frame as were presented in Tumbleston.

In Wade the defendant urged the Court to adopt a *per se* rule that a two year time period alleged in an indictment is unconstitutionally overbroad. This Court declined to adopt a *per se* rule and instead viewed the sufficiency of the indictment from a practical standpoint, with all the circumstances of the particular case in mind. In Wade this Court wrote:

In this case, the indictment time span was narrowed as much as possible under the circumstances. The victim was eight years old at the time of trial. She testified that the sexual offense occurred on only one occasion. She was unable to pinpoint the exact date on which this offense took place. The defendant testified that he was in the vicinity of the victim at relatively few times. The defendant lived in Athens, Georgia for much of the time of the indictment period. He claimed that from March to May of 1984, he returned to North Augusta (where the victim resided) one night a week to visit his wife and children. After this, the

defendant testified that he returned to North Augusta only four times through December of 1985. The first was Christmas Day in 1984; the second was over the July Fourth weekend in 1985; the third was a one day visit in August of 1985; and the fourth was for a wedding in October of 1985.

306 S.C. at 84, 409 S.E.2d at 783. (emphasis added).

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