ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

On Writ of Certiorari to the Court of Appeals
Appeal from Dorchester County
Court of General Sessions
Honorable Maite Murphy, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

MAR 08 2017

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Appellate Case No. 2017-001277

THE STATE,RESPONDENT,

v.

MICHAEL GENTILE, PETITIONER.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

WILLIAM F. SCHUMACHER, IV
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-3922

DAVID M. PASCOE, JR.
Solicitor, First Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 1525
Orangeburg, SC 29116
(803) 533-6252

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

RECEIVED

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

ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals properly affirmed the trial judge's denial of Petitioner's motion to quash the indictment for lewd act upon a child under sixteen where the indictment was not unconstitutionally overbroad because Petitioner knew the State was planning to obtain indictments covering the period between January 1, 2010, and September 1, 2012, and the time frame was reasonable under the circumstances.

Petitioner argues the trial judge erred in denying his motion to quash the indictment, arguing his state and federal constitutional rights were violated by the State's use of the lewd act indictment. He contends the thirty-three month time frame listed in the lewd act indictment was overbroad and vague, considering: (1) the indictment was obtained only eleven days prior to trial; (2) the indictment covered a thirty-three month time frame; (3) Petitioner's original CSC with a minor indictment, obtained twenty-seven months prior to his trial, only pertained to events occurring on or about January 1, 2009; and (4) the State failed to show "special circumstances" warranting the expanded time frame in the indictment. The State disagrees with Petitioner's allegations of error: (1) Petitioner was informed well-before even the June 4, 2015 indictments that Petitioner would be tried for sexual assaults occurring between January 1, 2010, and September 1, 2012; (2) the thirty-three month time frame contained in the indictment was justified by the circumstances of the case; and (3) Petitioner was not unfairly prejudiced by the thirty-three month time frame.

The indictment is a notice document, and any challenge to the sufficiency of an indictment must be made before the jury is sworn. See State v. Gentry, 363 S.C. 93, 102, 610 S.E.2d 494, 500 (2005).

If the objection is timely made, the circuit court should judge the sufficiency of the indictment by determining whether (1) the offense is stated with sufficient certainty and particularity to enable the court to know what judgment to pronounce, and the defendant

to know what he is called upon to answer and whether he may plead an acquittal or conviction thereon; and (2) whether it apprises the defendant of the elements of the offense that is intended to be charged.

Id. at 102–03; 610 S.E.2d at 500 (citing S.C. Code Ann. § 17–19–20 (2003); State v. Wilkes, 353 S.C. 462, 578 S.E.2d 717 (2003)).

Further, in determining whether an indictment is sufficient, the trial court must look at the indictment with a practical eye in view of all the surrounding circumstances. State v. Wade, 306 S.C. 79, 83, 409 S.E.2d 780, 782 (1991); State v. Tumbleston, 376 S.C. 90, 97, 654 S.E.2d 849, 853 (Ct. App. 2007), cert. denied, November 7, 2008 (citing, inter alia, State v. Means, 367 S.C. 374, 383, 626 S.E.2d 348, 353–54 (2006)). An indictment generally passes legal muster when it charges the crime substantially in the language of the statute prohibiting the crime or so plainly that the nature of the offense charged may be easily understood. Tumbleston, 376 S.C. at 98, 654 S.E.2d at 853 (citing State v. Reddick, 348 S.C. 631, 635, 560 S.E.2d 441, 443 (Ct. App. 2002)).

“Where time is not an essential element of the offense, the indictment need not specifically charge the precise time the offense allegedly occurred.” State v. Nicholson, 366 S.C. 568, 574, 623 S.E.2d 100, 103 (Ct. App. 2005) (quoting State v. Wingo, 304 S.C. 173, 175, 403 S.E.2d 322, 323 (Ct. App. 1991)). A two-prong test exists for determining the sufficiency of an indictment involving a purportedly overbroad time period: (1) whether time is a material element of the offense; and (2) whether the time period covered by the indictment occurred prior to the return of the indictment by the grand jury. Tumbleston, 376 S.C. 90, 98–99, 654 S.E.2d 849, 853–854.

“Time is not a material element of . . . committing a lewd act on a minor.” Id. at 101, 654 S.E.2d at 855; see also, S.C. Code Ann. § 16–15–140 (2015) (“It is unlawful for a person over

the age of fourteen years to willfully and lewdly commit or attempt a lewd or lascivious act upon or with the body, or its parts, of a child under the age of sixteen years, with the intent of arousing, appealing to, or gratifying the lust or passions or sexual desires of the person or of the child.”).

Initially, the State notes that any arguments Petitioner makes regarding an inability to defend himself based on the State “surprising” him with the expanded time frame in the June 4, 2015 indictments is not preserved for review. Counsel failed to contest the indictments on that basis during the pretrial hearing; in fact, Counsel admitted they had “candid conversations” with solicitors well-before trial during which they were told the State would use the expanded time frame in the indictments. Accordingly such argument is not preserved. See State v. Dunbar, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693–94 (2003) (stating an appealing party to preserve an issue for appellate review, it must have raised the issue and the grounds supporting it to the trial judge; a party may not argue one ground at trial and an alternate ground on appeal). Moreover, even if the argument was preserved, Counsel’s admissions prove they had sufficient time to investigate the expanded time frame and possible defenses.

Further, Petitioner’s arguments regarding the State’s failure to demonstrate “special circumstances” justifying the thirty-three month time frame in the lewd act indictment were not raised during the pretrial hearing, and are not preserved for appellate review. Even if this argument was preserved, Petitioner’s argument mischaracterizes South Carolina law; the State submits this language implies Petitioner’s indictments were out of the ordinary or in violation of state law. However, no “special circumstances” standard exists under South Carolina law; rather, a trial court must consider whether the circumstances of each individual case warrant an extended time frame in an indictment. In Wade, this Court stated it was “inappropriate” to create

a per se rule of insufficiency in an indictment because it contained a two-year time frame for the charged offense. The Court found that under the facts of the case, the time span stated for Wade's first-degree CSC with a minor indictment was narrowed as much as possible under the circumstances, given the young age of the victim and that children often have "little concept of dates and time." The Court justified its position by noting that in certain scenarios, although there is proof positive that a person committed a crime, that same person could be unindictable. The Court also noted:

[Wade]'s logic that a two year indictment period is overbroad because one cannot possibly account for his whereabouts during that span is a slippery slope. In most situations, an individual could not account for his whereabouts on every day during a one year, six month, one month, or even shorter span.

Wade, 306 S.C. at 84, 409 S.E.2d at 783.

Similarly, in Tumbleston, the Court of Appeals found indictments for first-degree CSC with a minor and lewd act upon a minor covering a three-year period between 2001 and 2004 were warranted based upon the facts of the case, noting "the stealth and repetitive nature of the alleged conduct compels identification of the broader time period. The victim is a young child, whom one cannot reasonable expect to recall the exact dates of the sexual abuse." Tumbleston, 376 S.C. at 101-02, 654 S.E.2d at 855.

However, in State v. Baker, 411 S.C. 583, 769 S.E.2d 860 (2015), a two-justice plurality³ of this Court found a trial judge erred in failing to quash indictments against the defendant which

³ Notably, because the decision in Baker was a plurality decision, the portion of the decision reached on the narrowest ground constituted the precedential portion of that decision. See Marks v. United States, 430 U.S. 188, 193 (1977) ("When a fragmented Court decides a case and no single rationale explaining the result enjoys the assent of five Justices, 'the holding of the Court may be viewed as that position taken by those Members who concurred in the judgments on the narrowest grounds . . .'"). In Baker, Justice Pleicones's concurrence **in result only** constituted the narrowest ground upon which the plurality's decision was reached. See Baker, 411 S.C. at 592, 769 S.E.2d at 865 (reversing Baker's case after two justices specified particular reasons why they believed reversal was appropriate while a single justice agreed reversal was appropriate but joined in the result only without

were amended two weeks before trial to expand the time frame for the alleged offenses from the summer months of three years to a continuous six-year period.⁴ Examining the indictments “with a practical eye in view of all the surrounding circumstances,” the plurality found the defendant was prejudiced because “he was undoubtedly taken by surprise and significantly limited in his ability to combat the charges against him.” *Id.* at 589–90, 769 S.E.2d at 864. The plurality noted the new indictments were “unconstitutionally overbroad and vague, in violation of the defendant’s due process rights, because they lacked specificity as to when the alleged acts occurred.” The plurality also noted: (1) the defendant was taken by surprise by the last-minute amendment of the charges; (2) there was no way for the defendant to know whether he could plead an acquittal; (3) the defendant was given only two weeks to complete the task of developing a defense for a continuous, six-year period; and (4) defendant had prepared a defense based on the original indictments, but due to the State’s belated presentation of the new indictments, was unable to obtain additional evidence to defend against the expanded time frame, such as employment records for the period before 2000, which had been destroyed at some point prior to the State obtaining the amended indictments. *Id.* at 591–92, 769 S.E.2d at 864–65. This Court put special emphasis on the defendant’s ability to craft an alibi. The Court stated the defendant’s “only complete defense would be that of an alibi,” noting a successful alibi must necessarily cover the entire time period alleged in the indictment, and it was “unable to discern how any defendant could effectively defend himself against a six-year time frame.” *Id.* at 591, 769 S.E.2d at 864. However, by way of footnote, the plurality emphasized its decision did not

specifying any grounds as to why he believed the case should be reversed). Thus, the decision in *Baker* has no precedential value beyond the peculiar facts of that particular case.

⁴ *Baker* involved the State obtaining four amended indictments against the defendant, two weeks prior to trial, based on new allegations by the victims. The indictments, which were for committing lewd acts upon a minor, originally covered events occurring between May 1, 2002 until September 1, 2002, May 1, 2003 until September 1, 2003; and June 1, 2004 until June 20, 2004. The amended indictments alleged the lewd acts occurred between June 1, 1998 and September 1, 2004.

preclude the State from reindicting Baker, so long as it limited the time frame in the indictments to the summer months 1998 through 2004, the periods in which the abuse likely occurred. Id. at 602, 769 S.E.2d at 870.

In the instant case, there was no need for the State to prove the lewd act occurred at a specific time or date. See S.C. Code Ann. §§ 16-3-655, 16-15-140 (2015); Tumbleston, 376 S.C. at 99, 654 S.E.2d at 854 (stating time is not a material element of either CSC with a minor or committing lewd act on a minor, and finding indictments which stated the charged crimes occurred “on or between 2001 and June 2004” was sufficient). Petitioner does not dispute the indictments issued in his case included the relevant language from the statutes defining the offenses with which he was charged.

Under those circumstances, the indictments were sufficient to provide Petitioner with notice that apprised him of the elements of the charged offenses, allowed him to decide whether to plead guilty or stand trial, and enabled the trial judge to know what judgment to pronounce in the event Petitioner was convicted. See Edwards v. State, 372 S.C. 493, 496, 642 S.E.2d 738, 739 (2007) (“[A]n indictment is a notice document. The primary purposes of an indictment are to put the defendant on notice of what he is called upon to answer, *i.e.*, to apprise him of the elements of the offense and to allow him to decide whether to plead guilty or stand trial, and to enable the circuit court to know what judgment to pronounce if the defendant is convicted.”); see also State v. Jacobs, 238 S.C. 234, 243, 119 S.E.2d 735, 739-740 (1961) (“An indictment is ordinarily sufficient if it is in the language of the statute.”).

Moreover, time was not an element of charged offenses of first-degree CSC with a minor or lewd act upon a child. See State v. Thompson, 305 S.C. 496, 501, 409 S.E.2d 420, 423 (Ct. App. 1991) (“The specific date and time is not an element of the offense of first degree [CSC].”).

In light of that fact, the solicitor was **not** required to identify the specific date and time each of the charged crimes occurred with exactitude for the indictments to be constitutionally sufficient. See State v. Wingo, 304 S.C. 173, 175, 403 S.E.2d 322, 323 (Ct. App. 1991) (“Where time is not an essential element of the offense, the indictment need not specifically charge the precise time the offense allegedly occurred. . . . Here, both indictments sufficiently notified Wingo of the offenses with which he was charged since time is not a material element of either the offense of first degree [CSC] or the offense of contributing to the delinquency of a minor and since the indictments allege the commission of the offenses during periods that preceded the date of the indictments.”); see also United States v. Kimberlin, 18 F.3d 1156, 1159 (4th Cir. 1994) (“‘Where a particular date is not a substantive element of the crime charged, strict chronological specificity or accuracy is not required.’ ” (citation omitted)). Instead, the solicitor was only required to fully apprise Petitioner of the information available to the State regarding the time, place, and date of the crimes, and she did just that to the best of her abilities in Petitioner’s case. See State v. Wilcox, 808 P.2d 1028, 1033 (Utah 1991) (“[W]e have recognized that there are notice problems, especially as to the date, place, and time inherent in prosecutions based on the testimony of very young victims. . . . If we were to hold that in all such circumstances, no offense could be charged because the alleged victim is too young to testify with certainty concerning the times, dates, or places where the abuse occurred, we would leave the youngest most vulnerable children with no legal protection. An abuser could escape prosecution merely by claiming that the child’s inability to remember the exact dates and places of the abuse impaired the abuser’s ability to prepare an alibi defense. In frank recognition of this fact, we have been less vigorous in requiring specificity as to time and place when young children are involved than would usually be the case where an adult is involved. . . . We have suggested that

so long as the elements of the crimes are covered by the factual allegations and the defendant is fully apprised of the State's information regarding the time, place, and date of the crimes, any lack of factual specificity goes not to the constitutional adequacy of notice, but to the credibility of the State's case." (emphasis added)); see also S.C. Code Ann. § 17-19-20 ("Every indictment shall be deemed and judged sufficient and good in law which, in addition to allegations as to time and place, as required by law, charges the crime substantially in the language of the common law or of the statute prohibiting the crime or so plainly that the nature of the offense charged may be easily understood and, if the offense be a statutory offense, that the offense be alleged to be contrary to the statute in such case made and provided.").

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